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Con_ﬂnued Growth:

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2006

e e L - " o Acquired United Kingdom Business
: ' ‘Assets from Coloplast A/S

Silicone MEC Manufacturing Assets

o Secured New Silicone
Male External Catheter Supply
Agreement with Coloplast

e : = o Acquired Menior Corporation
53 ’ -t . -y :
/"

o Transferred Manufacturing from
Mentor Anoka Plant to Stewartville

o Exhibited at over 20 Medical

Product Conferences

o Advanced Product
Development Programs

° Increased Net Income
e, o Grew Sales 35.9%

° Improved Margins
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Meet the UK Sales Team:

DIRECTLY SERVING THE UNITED KINGDOM

The people at Rochester Medical Lid are now
an integral and vital part of the Company.
This experienced and effective sales team
represents Rochester Medical products
throughout England, Scotland, Wales and
Northern Ireland. They and their colleagues
based in Lancing, West Sussex are a key
reason for Rochester Medical Corporation’s

significant growth and success in Fiscal 2006.

Hugh McLeod (General Manager)

a6 ROCHESTER MEDICAL LTD HAS A STRONG PRESENCE
IN THE UK, WiITH MARKET-LEADING PRODUCTS AND
AN EXPERIENCED SALES TEAM. WE ARE WELL PLACED

TO DRIVE THE BUSINESS FORWARD IN 2007.”

Rochester Medical Corporation » » 2006 Annual Repart
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Serving the World:

TEAMING TECHNOLOGY WITH A PERSONAL TOUCH

Rochester Medical’s worldwide employee
group is committed to exceptional service.
These personal convictions are combined
with information technology to foster

a seamless interface between US and

UK operations. The same neighborly
service is extended to all customers
regardless of their location.

Rochester Medical Corporation » » 2006 Annual Report
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Erom Here to There:

AND Al.l. POINTS ALONG THE WAY

S
4 Rochesfer Medicol distributes its

[
confinence care solutions around the

Oglobe ’The Company sells its branded
M
prog_lucts in over 70 countries. Here, a
shipment of catheters is being prepared

for rdllspotching to Rochester Medical
Ltd in Ihe United Kingdom.

el Ieft Mellssa McConnell (Materials Transporter)
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A
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Proprietary Technology




Transfix

FemSoft’

_Rothester Medical® f

BRAI)'IDS OF HIGHEST QUALITY L

Rochésfer Medical's wellearned reputation chs
a techpology leader yields a broad portfoljo
of proprietary p__rodﬁcfs considered fo be the
best in their classes. Sales of Rochester Medical
branded ‘devices now provide approximately

twothirds of the company's revenues.
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2006 Management Team A

LOOKING TOWARD THE FUTURE
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2006 Board of Directors

DEDICATED TO SUCCESS

S~ (clockwise from top left):
\ Anthony ). Conway

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer, President, Founder

j’/ o Benson F. Smith
S /—"—‘A._‘,F

Founding Partner of The Sales
4 Research Group, Chairman of the Board of
‘ the National Association for Continence

Roger W. Schnobrich
President of Waynorth Ltd

Darneli L. Boehm
Principal & Director of
Darnell L. Boehm o Associates
Peter R. Conway (not pictured)
Chief Executive Officer of Halcon Corporation

16 /17 Rochester Medical Corporation » » 2606 Annual Report
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NoTES

Clear Advantage is a trademark of Rochester Medical Corporation, FemSoﬁ Natural Catheter, Personal Catheter, Pop-On,
Release NF, Rochester Medical, Ultraflex and WideBand are registered trademarks of Rochester Medical Corporation.
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. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The following pages contain selected financial information from the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006. The entire Form 10-K is available to any shareholder upon request, at
no charge, from: .
Investor Relations

Rochester Medical Corporation _ : \
One Rochester Medical Drive

Stewartville, MN 55976

Telephone: (507) 533-9600

Fax: (507} 533-9725

The selected data begins with certain mﬂtters included under Ttem 5 from the Form 10-K. The selected data
mcludes the following:

Description

Page
Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity SeCLimues ..................................................... 20
Selected Financial Data .. ............ e e e 21
Management’s Dﬁswssion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations . .. ‘ 2'2-28
Report of Independent Auditors .. ....... ... .. L 32-33
Financial SEAEIMENIS . . . -« .« oottt e et et 34.37
Notes to Financial Statements. . ... .. P 3:8-53
Schedule 11 — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves . ..................... 154

19
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ITEM S Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities

Our,common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol ROCM. The following table sets
forth, for,the periods indicated, the range of high and low last sale prices for our common stock as reported by the
Nasdaq Global-Market. On Ociober 31, 2006, our Board of Directors declared a two-for-one stock split of our
common stock. As a result of the stock split, on November 17, 2006, shareholders received one additional common
share foreach common share held on the record date of November 14, 2006. All share and per share amounts in this
Form 10-K, including our financial statements, have been retroactively restated to reflect our stock split.

High - Low
Fis-Lal 2005 L . :
'lf:rstQuaner....'_._...».._ ..... e T, $4.89 $4.26
S}econd Quarter. .................................................. 665 . 429
Third Quarter . .. ......... e e e EEEEEEE ... 614 475
Fourth Quarter . . ......... e e 480 425
Fiscal 2006 . _
lr:irSt Quarter. .. ............... e e e e e e e $5.10 4.55
"SecondQuarler ............................. e 637 508
‘ '}Third Quarter ... .............. e e e 7.75_ - 6.22

Fourth QUATET . o L e e e e 8.12 7.05

In Decembcr 1999, the Board of Directors avthorized a stock repurchase program. Up 10 two million shares of
our oulstandmg common stock may be repurchased under.the program. Purchases may be made from time to time at
prcvallmg prices in the open market and through other customary means. No time limit has been placed on the
duration of the stock repurchase program and it may be conducted over an extended period of time as business and
market conditions warrant. We also may discontinue the stock repurchase program at any time. The repurchased
shares will be available for reissuance pursuant to employee stock option plans and for other corporate purposes. We
intend to fund such repurchases with currently available funds. During fiscal 2006, we did not repurchase any Shdl‘eb
of common stock.

Pursuant to our employee stock plans relating to the grant of employee stock options and restricted stock
awardsl. we have granted and may in the future grant employee stock options to purchase shares of our common
stock f_br which the purchase price may be paid by means of delivery to us by the optionee of shares of our common
‘stock that are already owned by the optionee (at a value equal to market value on the date of the option exercise),
DurmgI the period covered by this report, no options to purchase shares of our common stock were exercised for
which the purchase price was so paid.

Holde'rs

As of December 12, 2006, we had 131 shareholders of record. Such number of record holders does not reflect
sharehplders who beneficially own common stock in nominee or street name.
Dividends

| . ,
We have paid no cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not intend to pay cash dividends on our
common stock in the future.

.
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ITEM 6.~ Selécted Fina?cial Data

The following selected financial data of Rochester Medical Corporation as of September 30, 2006 and 2005
and for the three fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are derived from, and should be read
together with, our f"mancnal statements audited by McGladrey Pullen LLP and Ernst & Young LLF, mdependent
auditors, included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The following selected financial data as of September 30, 2004,
2003 and 2002 and for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 are derived from audited financial
statements not included heLrem The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” the Consolidated Financial Statements
and Notes thereto and other financial information included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. All share and per share
data have been restated to reflect our 2 for 1 stock split on November 17, 2006.

+
i
|

Fiscal Years Ended September 30,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
. {In thousands, except for per share data)
Netsales............0 ..ot e $21,666 §$15942 $15,011 $14,655 $11,076
Cost of sales ... . . .. SR 13057 10330 9615 9574 | 7,888
‘Gross profit . . . ... I ...................... 8.609 5,612 5,396 5,081 3,188
Operating expenses: )
Marketing and sellmg.! ...................... 3,109 2,398 2,176 2,225 2,196
Research and developn}em ................... 760 730 706 875 835
General and!administrative ................... 3,345 2,127 1,857 1,809 1,763
Total operating expe[lses ........... e 7214 5,255 ° 4,739 4,909 ’ 4,794
Income (loss) from operations . .......... . 1,395 357 657 172 [(1,606)
Interest income (expense), net .................. (110) 124 90 158 212
[ V
Net income (loss) before income tax . ............ 1,287 481 747 330 (1,394)
Income tax benefit. . . .. | ...................... 672 454 — — ! —
Net income (loss) ... .. : ...................... $1959 $ 935 § 747 § 330 é(l,394)
Net income (loss) per cor:nmon share — basic. ... ... $ a8 & 09 § 07 § 03 $ (13
Net income (loss) per common share — diluted .. . .. $ 17 $ 08 §$ W07 $ 03 % (13)
Weighted average number of common shares '
outstanding — basic. .. ... ... .. Lo oL 11,068 10,932 10,868 10,760 { 10,658
Weighted average number of common shares '
outstanding —diluted *. . .. ... ..o 11,666 11,430 11,374 11,308 ' 10,658

As of September 30, !
2006 2005 2004 2003 ' 2002
(In thousands, except per share data) :

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable f

SECUMLIES « o . .o e $ 2907 $ 6416 § 5872 % 5966 § 4,464
Working capital . . . .. e 7.664 12,671 11,119 10,398 I 8,523
Total AS5etS . o . oot e 35,952 22,209 21.384 21,125 '19,636
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations. . . 7,563 98 172 267 —
Accumulated deficit. . ... .. ... ... ... (20,086)  (22,045) (22979)  (23,726) |(24,056)
Total sharehelders’ eqLIJity ................. $23097 $20288 $18888 §18142 §$17,144
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
! : _
Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results.of Operations should be read

in conjunction with the narrative description of our business in Item 1 of Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K
and our Consoltdated Financial Statements accompanymg Notes and other mformatron listed in the- accompanyrng )

F1nanc1aI!Table of Contents. e

l
Overview

We develop, manufacture and market a broad line of innovative, technologically enhanced PVC-free and latex-.
free unnary continence and urine drainage care products for the extended care and acute care markets. Our products’
are compnsed of our base products, which include our male external catheters and standard silicone Foley catheters,
and our advanced products, which include our intermittent catheters, our anti-infection Foley catheters and our

FemSoft Insert. We market our products under our Rochester Medical® brand, and also supply our products to™ R

-several large medical product companies for sale under brands owned by these companies, which are referred t6 as.
private label sales. The primary markets for. our products are’ distributors, extended care facilities and mdtvrdual'
hospitals and healthcare _institutions. Wef sell_our: product% both in the domestic market ‘and mternatlonally

Irttemattonal sales aecounted for approxtmately 49% of total salex in fiscal 2006 CDmde‘Ed 1o 47% in fiscal 2005.

Net sales for our fiscal year endc,d September 30, 2006 were $21.7 million, an increase . of 35.9% from
$15.9 million in the prior fiscal year. The increase in net sales was a résult of an merease in both branded and private
label sales. The increase in branded sales primarily was attributable. to an: mcrease ‘of advanced products ‘and
increased sales in the United Kingdom related to the asset acquisition we completed in Ju une 2006. anate label sales'
of both base products and advanced products were up over last year

Our five largest customers in fiscal 2006 represented approximately 47% of our total net sales Beeause our
larger customers typically purchase products in relatively large quantities at a time, our financial performance can
fluctuate from quarter to quarter depending upon the timing of their purchases. We expect to continue to depend
.upon a‘relatively small number of customers for a significant percentage of our net sales.

A srgmﬁcant portion-of our net sales to date have dependéd on our ability to provide products that meet the
requirements of medical product compdntes that resell or distribute our products, and on the sales and marketing
efforts of such entities. Arrangements with these entities are likely to continue to.be a significant portion of our
revenues in the future, while we continue o establish our own market presence under the Rochester Medical brand =
name,

Our manufacturing facilities, whrch we own, are located in Stewartville, Minnesota, and have been designed to
accommodate the specialized requrrements for the manufacture of medical devices, including FDA requirements
for Quality System Regulation. A sub«;tanttal portion of the expenses associated with our manufacturing facilities
are fixed in nature (i.e. depreciation) and wrll reduce our operating margin until such time, if ever, as we are able to
increase utilization of our capacity through increased sales of our new products.

Recent events that have contributed 10 the recent growth of our business include:

+ On June 2, 2006, we, through ourlsubsidiary Rochester Medical Limited, completed the acquisition of
certain assets of Coloplast A/S (“Colopldst“) and Mentor Medical Limited ("MML™). Through the
acquisition, we acqurred certain assets including certain trademarks, related to sales of male external

- catheters, or MECs, in the United Krngdom The assets also included MMLs sales offices and warehouse

" facility in Lancmg, England. : s -

b

* We also entered into a separately negotiated Private Label Distribution Agreement with Coloplast under
which we will supply silicone MECS to Coloplast, which-will be sold under Coloplast’s brands worldwide.
excepting the United Kingdom. The Private Labe! Distribution Agreement specifies annval minimum
purchases of silicone MECs by Coloplast. Coloplast will also supply us with our requirement of latex MECs
which we will sell in the United Kingdom under our newly acquired Freedom ® and Freedom Plus ® brands.

"+ On June 2, 2006, we separately co:npleted-the acquisition of certain assets owned and used by Mentor
Corporation {“Mentor’™) in its silico]ne MEC business. We acquired certain equipiment and other tangible
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assets in Mentor’s facnhty in Anoka. Minnesota, and purchased certain inventory, work-in-progress and raw
materials for the production of silicone MECs; we also leased the Anoka facility from Mentor for six momhs
following the closmg of the transaction until we were able to transfer the assets to our Stewartville fac:l1t1e<;
Upon the closing of the transactions, the existing Supply Agreement. Foley Catheter Sales and Distribution
Agreement and MEC License and Sales Distribution Agreement (including, but not limited to the' Patent
License and Technology License thereunder) between us and Mentor were terminated, and Mentor conveyed
to us all intellectual property exclusively related to the manufacturing and sale of silicone MECS at the
Anoka facility. {

» On October 31, 2006, our Board of Directors declared a two-for-one stock split of the our common stock As
a result of the stock split, on November 17, 2006, shareholders received one additional common share for
each common share held on the record date of November 14, 2006. All share and per share amounts in the
discussion below have been restated to reflect our stock split.

+ On November 6, 2006, we announced we had been awarded a national Group Purchasing Contr:'.\ct for
urological products from Premier Purchasing Partners, L.P. (“Premier™). The agreement becomes effecnve
March 1,'2007. Premler is on¢ of the largest'Group Purchasing Organizations in-the United States wnh over
$27 blllmn in contrgact purchases per year: Its members include more than 1,500 hospital fac1lmes and
hundreds of other care sites. The contract includes our Foley catheters (including its infection control

CdtheteI’S) MECs, mtenmttent catheters and urethral inserts.
I

*» On November 20, 2006, we announccd that we had reached a settlement with Premier, Inc. and Premler
Purchasmg Partner's1 L.P. with respect to theilawsuit we initiated in February 2004 against certain GPOS and
mdmdual defendants alleging anti-competitive conduct against the defendants in the markets for standard
and anti- lnfectlon Fel;]ey catheters as well as urethral catheters. Under the settlement agreement, Premier will
pay us $8 £25,000 (nel $5,155,000 after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses) and will be dmr'mssed
from the ]awsun On December 14, 2006, we announced we had reached a settlement with C.R. Bard Inc.,
whereby C.R. Bard, Inc. will pay us $49,000,000 (net $33,450,000 after payment of attorneys’ fees and
expenses), and will be released from the lawsuit. The litigation continues against all other defendants|in the
case, which is scheduled for trial in May 2007. We cannot estimate the prospects of a favorable outcome for
this litigation.

* OnDecember 11, 20b6. we announced we had signed a new Private Label Agreement for supply of MECs 10
Hollister Incorporated for sale under the Hollister brand worldwide, excluding the United Kingdom, and also
announced that we a‘lmended our 2003 OEM/Private Label Agreement. The two companies also agreed to
terminate the Common Interest and Defense Agreement which we entered into in September 2004 for the
defense of our H ydl’OphlllC Intermittent catheter technology with respect to the patent infringement actlon in
the United l(ln;,doml between Coloplast A/S and Hollister. We have agreed with Hollister to release each
other from any claims under the Common Interest and Defense Agreement. In particular, we will not be
required to pay any fnddmonal legal fees under the terminated agreement. [

Our net income increasled 110% to $1,959,000 in fiscal 2006. Prior to fiscal 2003, we generated only li%ited
revenues and experienced net losses. Net income for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was
$934,000, $747,000 and $330 000, respectively, while the net loss for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002 was
$1.4 million. We had an accumulated deficit of approximately $20.1 million at September 30, 2006. i

! |
Application of Critical Ac'counting Policies

Management’s Dnscuss’non and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations addresses our
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. The preparan(l)n of these financial statements requires that we make estimates and assumpnons that
affect the reported amounts 6f assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at lhe date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an
on-going basis, we evaluate! these estimates and judgments. We base our estimates and judgments on historical
experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of

23
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which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or

conditions. '

We belicve the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect the more significant judgments and
estimatés used in the preparation of our financial statements.
’ |
Inventories '
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost, with cost being determined using a standard cost method, which
approximates average cost, or the current estimated market value of the inventory. Our policy is to establish an
excess and obsolete reserve for our products in excess of the expected demand for such products. At September 30,
2006, this reserve was $82,000, compared to $100,000 at September 30, 2005. If actual future demand or market
conditions differ from those projected by'us, additional inventory valuation adjustments may be required. These
valuation adjustments would be included in cost of goods sold.

Accounts Receivable

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is calculated by a combination of specific account
identification as well as percentages of past due balances. At September 30, 2006, this allowance was $56,000
compared to $94,000 a1 September 30, 2005. If actual future cotlections or customer conditions differ from those
projected by us, additional receivables valuation adjustments may be required.

b

Revenue Recognition : . ;
We recognize revenue from product isales upon shipment when title transfers to customers. Amounts received
for upfront license fees under multiple-element supply and distribution arrangements are deferred and recognized
over the period of supply, if such arrangements require our on-going services or performance.
Stock-Based Compensation '

We adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 123R,, Share-Based
Payment on QOctober 1, 2005. SFAS 123R requires us to measure and recognize in our consolidated statements of
operations the expense associated with all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors based on
estimated fair values. We utilize the Black-Scholes option valuation model to measure the amount of compensation
expense to be recognized for each option;award. There are several assuinptions that must be made when using the
Biack-Scholes model such as the expected term of each option, the expected volatitity of the stock price during the
expected term of the option, the expectegi dividends to be paid and the risk free interest rate expected during the
option term. Of these assumptions, the expecled term of the option and expected volatility of our common stock are
the most difficult to estimate since they are based on the exercise behavior of employees and the expected future
performance of our stock. An increase in the volatility of our stock price or an increase in the average period before
exercise will increase the amount of compensation expense on new awards. Dividend yields and risk-free interest
rates are less difficult to estimate, but an ncrease in the dividend yield will cause a decrease in compensation
expense and an increase in the risk- free interest rate will increase compensation expense. We believe the
assumptions used in computing our compensation expense for the year ended September 30, 2006 are appropriate.

Income Taxes !

+ 4

The carrying value of our net deferred tax assets assumes that we will be able to generate sufficient taxable
income in the United States, based on estimates and assumptions. We record a valuation allowance to reduce the
carrying value of our net deferred tax asSet to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. During 2005
management concluded that we had attained a sufficient level of sustained profitability to allow the valuation
allowance to be reduced to reflect management’s estimate of the amount of deferred tax assets that will be realized
in the near term. Considering projected levels of future income management reduced the valuation allowance by
$454,000 during 2005. As a result of the asset acquisition in fiscal 2006 discussed above, management further
reduced the valuation allowance by alﬂproximately $777,000 to reflect management’s revised and increased
estimates of future taxable income. For the year ended September 30, 2006, we had a $7.1 million valuation
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allowance related to our net deferred tax assets of $8.3 million. On December 14, 2006, we announced a settlement
agreement with C.R. Bard] l Inc. that management believes will significantly reduce the valuation allowance in the
first quarter of fiscal 2007 es a result of this subsequent event. In the event we determine that we are able to realize
additional deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset will increase net income in the
period such determination is made. On a quarterly basis, we evaluate the realizability of our deferred tax assets and
assess the requirements for a valuation allowance.

Goodwill

We record as goodwill the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and
intangible net assets acquirled as prescribed by SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Uncler this
standard, goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are not amortized. This standard also requires, at a
minimurn, an annual assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives.
If the carrying value of gooldwﬂl or an intangible as$et exceeds its fair value, an lmpalrment loss shall be recoémzed
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives.

Long-Lived Assets

We review our long-lived assets. for impairment as prescribed by SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that our
carrying value of long- lived assets may not be recaverable. Long-lived assets are considered not recoverable when
the carrying amount ofa loltg lived asset (asset group) exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to
result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset {(asset group). If it is determined that a long-lived asset (asset
group) is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded equal to the excess of the carrying amount of the long-
lived asset (asset group) ovler the long-lived asset’s (asset group’s) fair value. Fair value is the amount at which the
long-lived asset.(asset grmlp) could be bought or sold in a current transaction between a willing buyer and!seller,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Results of Operations

C e ' o )
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain items from our statements of operrations

expressed as a percentage of net sales: |
Fiscal Years Ended
September 30, '

o 2006 2005 2004

Total net sales . . .. . R R RRRE 100% 100% 100%
Costof sales . .. ... P I 60 65 _@
1
Gross margin. . . ... e 40 35 36
Operating expenses: | '
Marketing and selling. . ......... .. ... . L il 14 15 ]iS
Research and development . . . ........ ... . i 4 5 5
General and administrative . . .. ... ... . e 15 13 ﬁ
Total operating eXpenses . .. ......... ...ttt 33 33 32
Income from operations . . ....... ... Lo 7 2 4
Interest income (expeltse), NEL L oo e YD B |
Income before income taxes. . ... ... ... i e _6% 3% 5%

Our products are comprised of our base products, which include our male external catheters and statndard
silicone Foley catheters, and our advanced products, which include our intermittent catheters, our anti-infection
Foley catheters and our FemSoft Insert. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, net sales
information by product category (base products and advanced products), marketing method (private label and
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Rochester Medical branded sales) and distribution channel (domestic and international markets) (all dollar amounts
below are in thousands): '
Fiscal Years Ended September 30,
2006 2005 2004
Domestic International Total Domestic International Total Domestic International Totat

1
Private label sales: !

Baseproducts . ... ............... $ 559 % 4406 $10,002 $4.100 $4.156  $ 8,256 33,660 $3900 § 7.560
Advanced products. . ... ........... 646 100 682 250 139 389 725 154 879
Total private label sales. . . .. ... ..... 6,242 4,506 10,684 4,350 4,295 8,645 4,385 4,054 8,439
Branded sales:

Baseproducts . ... ............... 1368 5,706 9138 3.208 2,893 6,101 3,027 2,618 5,645
Advanced products. .. ..... .. ... ... 1,383 461 1,844 884 312 1,196 575 352 927
Total branded sules . ... ........... 4,751 6,167 10682 4092 3,205 7297 3,602 2,970 6,572
Totalmetsales: .................. $10,993  $10,673  $21.666 $8.442 37,500  $15,942 $7987 $7.024  $15,011

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2006 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2005

Net Sales.  Net sales increased 35.9% to $21.7 million in fiscat 2006 from $15.9 million in the prior fiscal
year. The increase in net sales was a result of an increase in branded and private label sales. The increase in branded
sales primarily was attributable to increased sales of advanced products and increased sales in the United Kingdom
related to the asset acquisition. Private label sales of both base products and advanced products were up over last
year.

Gross Margin. Our gross margin was 40% in fiscal 2006 compared to 35% in the prior fiscal year. Our
increase in gross margin in fiscal 2006 was primarily due to increased sales. -

Marketing and Selling. Marketing and selling expense primarily includes costs associated with base salary
paid to sales and marketing personnel, sales commissions, and travel and advertising expense. Marketing and
selling expense increased 30% in fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005, with marketing and selling expense of
approximately $3.1 million in fiscal 2006 and $2.4 million in fiscal 2005. The increase in marketing and selling
expense is primarily related to increased sales personnel and related expenses of $654,000 incurred through the
addition of our new U.K. operations, and $132,000 related to stock options in accordance with the new reporting
requirements of SFAS 123(R). Marketing and selling expense as a percentage of net sales for fiscal 2006 was 14%
compared to 15% for fiscal 2005.

Research and Development.  Research and development expense primarily includes internal labor costs, as
well as expense associated with third-party vendors performing validation and investigative research regarding our
products and development activities. Research and development expense increased 4% to $0.8 million in fiscal
2006 from 30.7 million in the prior fiscal year. The increase in research and development expense relates pritarily
to increased compensation expense of $63,000 and $60,000 related to stock options in accordance: with the new
reporting requirements of SFAS 123(R), offset by a decrease in product development costs. Research and
development expense as a percentage of net sales for fiscal 2006 was 4% and fiscal 2005 was 5%.

General and Administrative.  General and administrative expense primarily includes payroll expense related
to our management and accounting, information technology and human resources staff, as well as fees and expenses
of outside legal counsel and accounting advisors. General and administrative expense increased 57% to $3.3 million
in fiscal 2006 from $2.1 million in the prior fiscal year. The increase in general and administrative expense is
primarily related to increased administrative costs of $289,000 associated with the addition of our U.K. operations,
$197,000 of compensation expense for bonus compensation under our annual incentive program, $239.000 of
depreciation and amortization related to the U.K. addition, $50,000 in professional fees and $408,000 related to
stock optiens in accordance with the new reporting requirements of SFAS 123(R). General and administrative
expense as a perceniage of net sales for fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 was 15% and 13%, respectively.

Interest Income,  Interest income increased 59% te $220,000 in fiscal 2006 from $139,000 in the prior fiscal
year offset by a loss on sale of investments of $104,000. The increase reflects significantly higher cash positions and
an overall higher interest rate on investments during the first eight months of the year reduced by the sale of
investments used to fund our purchase of certain assets from Mentor and Coloplast in June 2006 transactions.
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Interest Expense. Interest expense increased to $225,000 in fiscal 2006 from $15,000 in fiscal 2005. The
increase in interest expense reflects increases in debt used to partially finance our asset acquisitions discussed

above. |

Income Taxes. We had a history of pre-tax losses and until fiscal 2003 had not generated taxable |r|1come
While we had pre-tax income in fiscal 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003, we utilized a portion of our net operdung loss
carryforward fo'r which noldeferred income tax asset was recorded. Therefore, no federal income tax was due for
fiscal 2006, 2005, 2004 or fiscal 2003, and no federal income tax expense was recorded Income taxes payable are a
result of taxablfi income in the United ngdom :

We estabhshcd a deferred tax asset of $454,000 in fiscal 2005. As a result of the asset acquisition discussed
above, manageréwnt further reduced ‘our-deferred taic' valuation allowance by approximately $777,000 to reflect
management’s revised and increased estimates of future taxable income. Accordingly, the net deferred i income tax
asset as of September 30, 2006 represents an estimate of the tax benefit to be realized based on projected taxable
income over the next three years with a corresponding reduction in our deferred tax asset related to the Iax loss
carryforward. We have established a valuation allowance against the remaining amount of our deferred tax assets
We believe the seitlement agreement with C.R. Bard will significantly reduce the valuation allowance in the first
quarter of fiscal 2007 as ajresult of this subsequent event. )

Asof September 30,2006, we have 521:6 million of federal net operatmg loss carryforwards available 10 offset
future taxable i mcome Wthh begin 10 expire in 2009. Future expiration by year is as follows: 2009: 5589, 000 2010:
$1,302,000: 2011 $1.147, 000 and thereafter, $18!562,000. In addition, under the Tax Reform Act of 1986 the
amounts of and benefits fro‘m net operating loss carryforwards may be impaired or limited in certain c1rcumslances
including 51gn1ﬁcant changles in ownership interests. Future use of our net operating loss carryforwards may be
restricted due to changes in ownership or from future tax legislation. :

Net Income.  Our net!income increased 110% to $1,959,000 in fiscal 2006. Increased sales and gross rrllargin,

along with the increase in our deferred tax assets were partially offset by higher operating expenses.
b
Fiscal Year Ended Septem‘ber 30, 2005 Compatred to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2004

Net Sales.  Net sales increased 6.2% to $15.9 million in fiscal 2005 from $15.0 million in the prior fiscal year.
The increase in net sales primarily was attributable to an increase in branded sales as we continued to lncrease sales
of advanced products. The i increase in private label sales of base products was partially offset by a decrease i in sales
of advanced products, prlmdrlly attributable to lower sales in Europe as a result of the patent dispute between
Coloplast and Hollister Incorporaled a significant customer of ours. Coloplast commenced suit against Ho]hsler in
the United Kingdom in September 2004 alleging that the Hydrophilic Catheter packaging configuration mfrmged
Coloplast’s. European patent. The European Patent Office deemed Coloplast’s packaging patent invalid.

Gross Margin. Our gross margin was 35% in fiscal 2005 compared to 36% in the prior fiscal year. Our
decrease in gross margin in fiscal 2005 was primarily due to inefficiencies in manufacturing of newly mtroduced
products. .

Marketing and Setling. Marketing and selling expense primarily includes costs associated with base !salary
paid to sales and marketing personnel, sales commissions, and travel and advertising expense. Markelm‘g and
selling expense increased 10% in fiscal 2005 as compared to fiscal 2004, with marketing and selling expense of
approximately $2.4 mllimn in fiscal 2005 and $2.2 million in fiscal 2004, The increase in total dollars spént on
marketing and selling is related to launching expenditures for our closed systems and increased employee health
Costs. Marketmg and selling expense as a percentage of net sales for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 was 15%.

Research and Development. Research and development expense primarily includes internal labor costs as
well as expense associated \'wth third-party vendors performing validation and investigative research regardmg our
products and development activities. Research and development expense remained relatively flat at $0.7 million in
fiscal 2005 compared to thei prior fiscal year. Research and development expense as a percentage of net sales for
fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, was 5%.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expense primarily includes payroll expense related
to our management and acco;unting, information technology and human resources staff, as well as fees and expenses

l .

|




of outside legal counsel and accounting advisors. General and administrative expense increased 15% to $2.1 million
in fiscal 2005 from $1.9 million in the prior fiscal year. The increase in general and administrative expense primarily
reflects increased costs associated with being a public company, including legal, audit and shareholder services.
General and administrative expense as a percentage of net sales for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 was 13% and 12%,
respectively.

Interest Income, Net. Interest income, net, increased 38% to $124,000 in fiscal 2005 from $90,000 in the

prior fiscal year. The increase in net interest income primarily reflects generally higher interest rates in fiscal 2005,

as well as lower interest expense relating to debt incurred by us in purchasing real property in fiscal 2003,

Income Taxes. We had a history of pre-tax losses and until fiscal 2003 had not generated taxable income..

While we had pre-tax income in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, we utilized a portion of our net operating -loss
carryforward for which no deferred tax asset was recorded and therefore, no federal income taxes are due for fiscal
2005,-2004 or fiscal 2003.

We established a deferred tax asset of $454,000 in fiscal 2005, which represents an estimate of the tax benefit
to be realized based on projected taxable income over the next three years with a corresponding reduction in our
reserve for tax loss carryforward We established a valuation allowance against the remaining amount of our
deferred tax asset. : -

As of September 30, 2005, we had $23.5 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards available to offset
future taxable income Wthh began to expire in 2007.

" Net Income. Our net income increased 25% to $934,000 in fiscal 2005. Increased sales and grdss margin,
along with the booking of our deferred tax asset was partially offset by higher operating expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operations primarily through public offerings and private placements of our
equity securities, and have raised approximately $40.7 million in net proceeds since our inception,

Qur cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities were $2.9 mllllon at September 30, 2006 compared with
$6.4 million at September 30, 2005.

We generated a net $2.8 million of cash in operating activities during the year compared with $602,000 for the
same period last year. Cash flow provided by operating activities in 2006 was comprised of net income of
$1,959,000 reduced by an increase in net working capital components and increased by net non- cash charges of
$908,000, primarily depreciation and amortization of $1,242,000 and stock based compensanon of $600,000
partially offset by the increase in deferred income taxes of $777,000 and the reduction of deferred revenue of
$157, 000 Significant working capital changes are as follows:

» $1,289,000 increase in accounts receivable reflecting increasing sales activity over prior year.
. * $706,000 increase in inventory for the reason stated above.
*» $995,000 increase in accounts payable relating to timing of payments and increased volume over fiscal 2005,

. $983,000 increase in accrued expenses primarily related to VAT and income taxes payable in the United
Kingdom as a result of the asset acquisition from Coloplast.

In fiscal 2002, we entered into an agreement with Coloplast granting Coloplast exclusive marketing and
distribution rights with respect to our Release-NF Foley catheters in certain geographic areas. Coloplast paid us
$1,000,000 for these exclusive nghts In addition, during the fiscal quarier ended September 30, 2003, we entered
mto an agreement granting Hollister Inc. exclusive marketing and distribution rights in certain geographlc areas
with respect to our hydrophilic intermittent catheters in exchange for a cash payment of $200,000. In accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, we are recognizing these amounts over the terms of the respective
agreements, ) '

During fiscal 2006, our working capital position, excluding cash and marketable securities, increased by
$1,008,000. Accounts receivable balances increased 40% or $1,289,000 during the fiscal year primarily due to
increased sales. Inventories as of September 30, 2006 increased $706,000 or 18% over fiscal 2005 as a result of
increased sales. Other current assets were relatively flat with fiscal 2005. Current liabilities increased $3.6 million
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during the y'ear as a result of the asset acquisition from Mentor and Coloplast. Some of the factors that contributed to

|
- the increase in current liabilities are VAT and-income.taxes payable in the United Kingdom, increased accrual for

executive compensation, and current maturities of debt related to the asset acquisitions mentioned above. Changes
in other asset and liability balances related to timing of expense recognition.

Investing activities, primarily capital expenditures related 10 the-asset acquisitions from Mentor and Coloplast
and the sale of marketable securities, used net cash of $5.9-million in fiscal 2006.

On June 2, 2006, we, through our subsidiary Rochester Medical Limited, completed the acquisition of certain
assets of Coloplast and MML, pursuant to an agreement dated May 17, 2006. We paid a cash purchase price of
$9.3 million at closing, and agreed to pay an additional $5:3 million in equal installments over five years, plus or
minus an amount based on units sold over the five year period. Based on current sales volumes, we do not currently
project a material change to the purchase price based on this provision. As provided in the agreement, we acqutred
certain assets, including certain trademarks, related to sales of MECs in the United Kingdom. The assets also
include MML's UK Dispensing Appliance Contractor License and its sales offices and warehouse facm.ty in-
Lancing, England. We also purchased approximately $160,000 of inventory to be sold in the United Kingdom.

On June 2, 2006, we completed the acquisition of certain assets owned and used by Mentor Corporation in its
silicone MEC business. Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, we paid $750,000 for certain equipment and
other tangible assets in Mentor’s facility in Anoka, Minnesota, and purchased certain inventory, work- m—progress
and raw materials for the production of smcone MECs for. approximately $879,000; we also leased the Anoka
facility from Mentor for six months followmg the closmg of the transactions. Upon the closing of the transactlons
the existing Supply Agreement, Foley-Catheter Sales and Distribution Agreement and MEC License and Sales
Distribution Agreement (including, but not limited to the Patent License and Technology License Lhereunder)
between us and Mentor were terminated. ‘ -

On June 2,2006, in COU_]UHCIIOH with the financing of the transactions between us, Mentor, and Coloplast we
entered into a $7,000,000 credit facility with U.S. Bank National Association. The new credit facility replaces the
prior $1,000,000 revolving line of credit with U.S. Bank that expired on March 31, 2006. The new credit facility
consists of a $5,000,000 term loan payable in five years and accruing interest at a rate equal to the quoted one- m'onth
LIBOR rate plus 1.60% as of the date of the loan, and a revolving line of credit of up to $2,000,000, maturmg
annually beginning March 31, 2007, with interest payable monthly at a floating rate based on the quoted one- month
LIBOR rate plus 1.60%. In November 2006, the interest rate on the term loan was fixed at 6.83%. A{s of
September 30, 2006, we had no borrowings under the revolving line of credit. Our obligations are secured by our
assets, including accounts receivable, general intangibles, inventory, and equipment. The term loan agreementL and
revolving credit agreement require us to comply with certain financial covenants beginning with the first quarter of
fiscal 2007, including a fixed charge coverage ratio and minimum working capital of $8 million, and restrict ceftain
additional indebtedness and liens. i

On November 20, 2006, we announced that we had reached a settlement with Premier with respect 0 the
lawsuit we initiated in February 2004 against certain GPOs and individual defendants alleging anti- competitive
conduct against the defendants in the markets for standard and anti-infection Foley catheters as well as urethrdl
catheters. Under the settlement agreement, Premier will pay us $8,825,000 (net $5,155,000 after payment of
attorneys’ fees and expenses) and will be dismissed from the lawsuit. On December 14, 2006, we announced we had
reached a settlement with C.R. Bard, Inc., whereby C.R. Bard, Inc. will pay us $49,000,000 (net $33,450,000 after

payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses) and will be released from the lawsuit. i

We curi'ently believe that our existing resources and anticipated cash flows from operations and known cash
settlements will be sufficient to satisfy our capital needs for the foreseeable future. However, our actual liquidity ]and
capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including the costs, method and timing of expansmn of
sales and marketing activities; the amount of revenues from sales of our existing and new products; changes in,
termination of, and the success of, existing and new distribution arrangements; the cost of maintaining, enforcmg
and defending patents and other intellectual property rights; competing technological and market devel'opmerlttS'
developments related to regulatory and third party reimbursement matters; the cost and progress of our research :Imd
development efforts; opportunities for growth through acquisition, joint venture or other business combmauons if
any; and.other factors. In the event that additional financing is needed, we may seek to raise additional funds
through public or private financing, collaborative relationships or other arrangements. Any additional ethty
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financing may be dilutive to shareholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve significant restrictive
covenants. Collaborative arrangements, if necessary to raise additional funds, may require us to relinquish our rights
to certain of our technologies, products or marketing territories. Failure to raise capital when needed could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. There can be no assurance that
such financing, if required, will be available on terms satisfactory to us, if at all.

Disclosures about Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments D mae T e e e

The following table summarizes our contractual commitments and commercial obligations that affect our
financial condition and ligquidity position as of September 30, 2006:

Payments Due by Period

Less than After §
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years years
Long Term Debt, including
interest. . ................ $11,033,229  $2,295,296  $6,776,747  $1,961,187 $—
Capital Lease Obligations . .. .. 67,600 44,615 22,985 — =
Purchase Obligations (general -
operating) . ....,......... 1,722,957 1,722,957 — —
Total Contractual Cash
Obligations. . .. ......... $12,823,786  $4,062,868  $6,799.732  $1,961,187 - $—

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of September 30, 2006, we did not have any significant off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in
Item 303(a)(4)(i1) of Regulation S-K.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Effective October 1, 2005, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting. Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123
{Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”) which requires all share-based payments, including
grants of stock options, to be recognized in the statement of operations as an operating expense based on their fair r
values over the requisite service period. SFAS 123(R) supersedes our previous accounting under Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued 1o Employees” for periods beginning in fiscal 2006.
In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 relating to SFAS 123(R). We have applied the
provisions of SAB 107 in our adoption of SFAS 123(R). We elected to utilize the modified-prospective transition
method as permitted by SFAS 123(R). Under this transition method, our financial statements for prior periods have
not been restated to reflect, and do not include, the impact of SFAS 123(R). Stock-based compensation expense for
the year ended September 30, 2006 includes: (a) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards
granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, October I, 2003, based on grant-date fair value estimated in accordance
with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation;” and (b) compensation
expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted subsequent to October 1, 2005, based on grant-date fair
value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). We recorded approximately $600,000 of related
stock-based compensation expense for the year ended September 30, 2006. This stock-based compensation expense
reduced both basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.05 for the year ended September 30, 2006.

On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued FASB Staff Position
No. SFAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related 10 Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Bused Payment Awards.”
The alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the additional
paid-in capital pool (“APIC pool”) related to the tax effects of employee share-based compensation, and to
determine the subsequent impact on the APIC pool and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of the tax effects of
employee share-based compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption of SFAS 123(R).

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, fnventory Costs — an amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4 (“SFAS 1517). SFAS 151 amends the guidance in Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43 to require idle
facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage) to be recognized as current-period charges.
In addition, SFAS 151 requires the allocation of fixed production overhead to the costs of conversion be based on the
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normal capacity of production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during ﬁscal years

beginning after June 15, 2005. We adopted SFAS 151 on October 1, 2005 with no material impact to our
consolidated financial statements.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, or “FIN 47. which clarifies termmo]ogy in
FASB Swiement No. 143, Accounting for Asser Retirement Obligations. FIN 47 clarifies when an enmy has
sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. In fiscal 2006 we
adopted FIN 47 with no material impact on our consolidated financial statements. :

In May 2005, the FASB issued FASB Statement No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Correcuons This
new standard replaces APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and FASB Statement No. 3, Reporting
Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. Among other changes, Statement 154 requires retrospective
appllcatlon of a voluntary change in accounting principle with all prior period financial stdtemems presented on the
new accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to do so. Statement 154 also requires accounting for a change in
method of depreciating or amortizing a long-lived nonfinancial asset as a change in estimate (prospectl\{ely) '
effected by a change in accounting prmmple Further, the Statement requires that correction of errors in previously
issued financial statements be termed a “‘restatement.” The new standard is effective for accoummg changesland
correction of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. Early adoption of this standard is
permitted for accounting changes and correction of errors made in fiscal years beginning after June 1, 2005. We do

. not believe the adoptlon of FASB Statement 154 will have a material effect on our financial position or results of

operdtlons

|

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 as amended, Accounting for Uncertainty in Inalme
Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement 109 (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax
positions. FIN 48 provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in our ﬁnanmal
staterments only if the position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical ments of
the position, The provisions of FIN 48 are effective as of the beginning of fiscal 2008, with the cumulative effect of
the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. We are curremly
evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on our consolidated financial stalements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). SFAS No. 158
requires an employer to: (a) recognize in its statement of financial position the funded status of a benefit plaln
(b) measure defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the end of the employer’s fiscal year (with limited
exceptions); and (c) recognize as a component of other comprehensive income, net of tax, the gains or losses an!d
prior service costs or credits that arise but are not recognized as components of net periodic benefit costs pursuant to
prior existing guidance. The provisions governing recognition of the funded status of a defined benefit plan and
related disclosures are effective as of the end of fiscal years ending after December 15, 2006. The requirement to
measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the employer’s fiscal year-end statement of ﬁnanc1a]
position is effective for fiscal years ending after December 16, 2008, Because we currently do not have defined
benefit or other post retirement plans the standard will have no effect on us.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 establishes a
single authoritative definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands
disclosure requirements pertaining to fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are
currently evaluating the impact that this guidance may have on our results of operations and financial position.

In September 2006, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements when Quantifving Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108
requires that public companies utilize a “dual-approach™ to assessing the quantitative effects of financial mis-
statements. This dual approach includes both an income statement focused assessment and a balance sheet focused
assessment. The guidance in SAB 108 must be applied to annual financial statements for fiscal years ending after
November 15, 2006. We are currently assessing the impact of adopting SAB 108 but do not expect that it will have a
significant effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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- Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Rochester Medical Corporation

.. We have audited the. accompanymg consolidated balance sheets of Rochester Medical Corporation as of
--September 30, 2006 and, 2005 and the related consohdaled statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and
" comprehensive income and cash flows for the'yedrs'then: ended Oliraudit also, included the 2 2006 and. 2005 ﬁnanc:lal“ -

statement Schedule I listed in Item 15(a)(2) Thesé finiancial- statements:and sched‘ le;are Ihe responsﬂ)lllty‘o

"Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on thesé ﬁhancm @Eheduié*fr;

based on our audits. ’

" We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

* (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test’ basm,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the °
accountmg principles used and -significant estimates made by management, as well as ‘evaluating the overall "
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Rochester Medical Corporation as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement Schedule 11, when considered in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

fs/ - McGraprey & PuLLen LLP-

Rochester, Minnesota
October 27, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Rochester Medical Corporation

We have audited the accompanying statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows of Rocheﬁter
Medical Corporation for the year ended September 30, 2004, Our audit also included the information relating to
fiscal 2004 in the financial statement scheduie listed in-ltem 15(a)(2). These financiai statements and schedule are;
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respon51b1hty is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and schedule based on our-audit.

., We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the
Company’s internal contro! over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
- purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estlmates made by management, and evaluatmg the overall financial statement presentation, We believe that our
audit prov1des a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the results of its
operations and its cash flows of Rochester Medical Corporation for the year ended September 30, 2004, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all
material respects, the information set forth therein,

/s/  ErnsT & Young LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
October 22, 2004
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Total property, plant and equipment

Deferred INCOME 1aX 885818 . . o vt vttt bt v a et r e r e e e U
GoodwWill . . .. e e e e e e e e

ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Assets:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents. . . .. e e S e ..

Marketable stcurities ... ...., ... coeaio.... DU S i

Accounts reczivable, less allowance for doubtfu] accounts
($55,540 -- 2006; $93,549 — 2005)
Inventories, net. ... ... ... e
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
.Deferred income tax assets . . ..o i

Property, plan!. .md equipment:
Land
Buildings . ..............

Equipment and fixtures........ A CRRTRORRE

Less accumuiated depreciation

..........................

Finite life intangibles, less accumulated amortization ($217,843 — 2006,
$0 — 2005)

Patents, less accumulated amortization ($1,026,564 — 2006;

$965,013 — 2005)
Total A8SeS. . . . e e e e e e e

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity:
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable . . ... ... ... L
Accrued compensation
Accrued vacation
Accrued professional fees . . ... ... L e
Accrued VAT ... e
Accrued BXpPenses. . . ... .. e e
Deferred revenue
Current. maturities of debt . . . ... ... ... Lo i
Current maturities of capital leases .. . ......... ... ... .. ... . ..

Total curent liabilities . . . . . i e e

Long-term liabilities:
Deferred revenue

Long-term debt, less current maturities ... ........... ... ... ... ...
Capital leases, less current maturities

Total long-term Habilities . ... . ... ... . e

Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock, no par value:

Authorized shares — 40,000,000

Issued and outstanding shares; (11,086,560 — 2006; 11,047,000 — 2005}. . .

Accumulated deficit . . . ... ... L e
Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss). . .. ... .. ... ... ...

Total shareholders’ equity . . . ... ... . i s
Total liabilities and shareholders” equity ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ...

See accompanying notes.
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September 30,

2006

2005

-$ 2,906,698

$ 1,129.876

— 5.286,553
= "'_"_" 'h B N
4 4941004 #3204, 824
4,642,578 3 936 243
410,267 351,027
53,000 7 21,000
12,506,637 13,929,523
365,951 365,951
7,210,156 5,994,496
12,208,194 11,783,213
19,784,301 18,143,660
(1 1,545 055) (10,582,357)
8,239,246 7,561,303
1,178,000 433,000
5,487,141 —_
8,270,157 —
271,171 285,194

$ 35,952,352

$ 22,209,020

$ 1,278441 3§ 283,332
651,476 326,284
105,358 88,706
137,000 150,321
454,453 —
378.648 178,945
114,287 157,143

1,681,361 34,000
42,084 39,785
4,843,108 1,258,516
449,999 564,286
7,540,737 34,000
21,946 64,030
8,012,682 662,316
43,128,727 42,407,912
(20,085,742)  (22,044,650)
53,577 (75,074)
23,096,562 20,288,188

$ 35,952,352

$ 22,209.020




; —
\

ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS : \
Fiscal Years Ended September 30, )
2006 2008 004 |
i
Net Sales. . oo e $21,665,837 $15941,649 $15,011419
Cost oF sales . . oo oot e 13,057,090 10,330,113 9,615,427
Grossprofit .............. L 8.608.747 5,611,536 5,395,992 ‘
Operating expenses: ‘
Marketing and selling . . . ... ... ... .o 3,109,207 2,397,816 2,175,665
Research and development. . . ............. .. ..., 759,639 730,105 706,157
General and administrative. . . .. ... e i 3,344 662 2,126,813 1,856,858
Total Operating eXpenses . ... oo v vt et e 7,213,508 5,254,734 4,738,680
Income from Operations. . ... ... ..t 1,395,239 356,802 657,312 ‘
Other income (expense): ' . ' '
[OTErESL INCOIMIE « « o v v e et e et et e e e e e e et 116,341 138,692 114,982
Interest (EXpense) .. ...t (224,848) (15,067) (25.481)
(108,507) 123,625 89,501
" Net income before income taxes . . ... ......ovoveeennn.. 1,286,732 480,427 746,813
Income tax benefit . ......... ... ... ... ... .. i, 672,176 454,000 -—
NelINCOME . . .. ot e e e e $1,958908 § 934427 § 746,813
Net income per common share —basic . ............ ... ... $ A8 % 09 % 07
Net income per common share —dihuted. . ................ $ A7 0§ 08 § 07
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding —
BASIC .+ et e 11,068,102 10,932,246 10,868,676
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding —
diluted . ... . . e 11,665,992 11,429,230 11,373,188

See accompanying notes.
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ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION ‘
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY.AND.COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unrealized
Gain (Loss) Foreign
on Available-  Currency
Common Stock Accumulated for-Sale Translation .
i . 1 Shares Amount Deficit ~ Securities Adjustment Totzl
Balanct at Scpteinber 30, 2003 . . .. : 10,849,400 " $41,857,144 - $(23,725,890) _ $ 10473, —  $18141,727
Net income for the year... . . ... s — —_ © 746,813 U T 46813,
Unrealized loss-on available-for-
sale securities . . ..... e — —_ —" (84,347 . " (84,34T)
Subtotal -~ comprehensive ‘ ~ T
income. . .......... e — — - — — 662,466
Stock option exercise . ......... 32,862 83,556 — — — 83,556 .
Balance at September 30, 2004 .. .1 . 10,882,262 41,940,700 (22,979.077)  (73,874) — 18,887,749
. !
Net income for the year, . ... .. . — — 934,427 — — 934,427 ;
Unrealized loss on available-for-] !
sale sccul;'itics ........... L — —- — (1,200 — (1,200
Subtotat —‘,‘!cornprchen'sivc -
income.™ . il.. ... — — —_ R Y e -933,227_'
Stock option exercise . ... ... Lo 164738 467.212 — L — — 467212
Balance at September 30, 2005 . 7. .. 11,047,000 42407912  (22,044,650) (75,074) — . 20,288,188
Net income for'the year. . .. ...... — — 1,958,908~ —_ - 1,958,908
Foreign currency transiation _ ‘ - ' T o
adjustent . . ... ... ... ... — — — — 53,577 - '53,577
Unrealized loss on available-for- .
sale securities . . . ... ........ — — — 75,074 — 75,074
Subtotal — comprehensive .
CANCOMIC. . o — — — —_ — 2,087,559
'Stock aption compensation . . . ... — 599,527 — — — . 599,527
Stock option exercise .......... 39,560 121,288 — — — 121,288
Balance at Septeraber 30, 2006 . . . . . 11,086,560 $43,128,727 ${20,085,742) § — $53,577  $23,096,562

See accompanying notes.
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~ i ROCHESTER I\/fEDICAL' CORPORATION
‘CONSOLIDATED STA\TEMENTS ‘OF CASH FLOWS -

1

Operating Activities:
Nelincome. .. ... iinr e e v
Adjustments to reconcile net income (o net cash pro‘yided by
operating activities: : b
'&gl?éprcciat'ion ...... P RN g e
YAmortization. . . ........ .. e o e
Stock based compensation ... ... .. ... ... e

Defefred TEVENUE . . . o ot iie e e e ieenaeean e

L B L

Fiscal Years Ended September 30,

Deferred income taxes. .o .. ....vvutunn ... . .

- Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of thi; effects
of business acquisitions:

Accountsreceivable . . .. .. ... .. . L
Inventories. . ... . e
Other current assets . . ... ...
Accounts payable. . .. ... ... ... .

Other current liabilities

Investing Activities:

Capital expenditures . ... ... .. ... ... .
Business acquisition ......... . .. L e
Patents . ... ..

Purchase of marketable securities

Sales and maturities of marketable securities .. . ............

Net cash used in investing activities. . . ... ... ... 0o

Financing Activities:
Payments on capital leases
Proceeds from long-term financing

Payments on long-term financing. . .......... .. ... ...,
Sale of common stock upon exercise of options . .. ..........

Net cash provided by (used in} financing activities. . .........
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash ...... ... ... ...

Increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . ...........
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ... ..........

Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . . ................

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:

Interest Paid . . ... ... .. e

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:

Debt used to finance asset acquisition .. ...... ............

2006 2005 2004 |

$ 1958908 $ 034427 $ 746813
962,698 1208946 1238694
279,394 58,315 56.383
599,527 — _

- (157,142) - . (15T;142)  (157,142)
(776.999) (4540000 - - —
(1267082)  (573.635)  (176,878)
(693,206) 9,071 (402,694)
(59,240) (77,799) (984)
995,117 (495 434) 271,186
982,675 149,112 (503.433)
2.824,649 601,860  1.071.945
(354.182)  (327.822)  (1,017.459)
(10,857.505) — —
(47,529)  (124,213) (50,082)

—  (1,133075)  (3.474.519)
5361625  1.097,084  2.340,145
(5.897.591)  (488.026)  (2.201,915)
(39,785) (37.611) (63.644)
5,000,000 — _—
(250,000) (34,000) (34,000)
121,288 467212 83,556
4.831,503 395.601 (14,088)
18,261 — -
1,776,822 509435  (1,144.058)
1,129,876 620,441 1764499

$ 2906698 $ 1129876 $ 620,441
$ 94650 $ 15665 $  22.903
$ 4409099 § — % —

See accompanying notes.

37




ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2006

1. Business Activity S R .
Rochester ‘Medical Corporation (the “Company”) develops, manufactures and markets a broad line of =
innovative, technologically enhanced urinary continence and urine drainage care products for the_home care. -
‘and acute/extended care markets. The Company currently manufactures and markéts standard continence care
‘products, including male external catheters, Foley catheters and intermittent catheters and innovative and tech-
nologically advanced products such as’its FemSoft Insert, Release-NF catheter and antibacterial and hydrophilic
intermittent catheters. The Company markets its products under its Rochester Medical brand, and also supplies its
. products to several large medical product C()mpames for sale under brands owned by these companies, which are

referred to as private label sales.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Pﬁnciple§ af Conselidation

The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary.
All material intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

" Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a remaining maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities were classified as available for sale and were carried at fair value, with unrealized gains
or losses included as a separate component of shareholders” equity. At September 30, 2006 the Company did not
own any marketable securities. At September 30, 2005 the balance consisted of corporate bonds with remaining
contractual maturities of one to twelve months. The amortized cost and estimated market value of available-for-sale
securities were as follows:

Amortized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gain (Loss) Market Value

September 30,2005 .......... ... o oo oL $5,361,627  $(75,074)  $5,286,553

Concentration of Credit

The Company manufactures and sells its products to a full range of companies in the medical industry on a
worldwide basis. There is a concentration of sales to larger medical wholesalers and distributors, Sales of products
are recorded upon shipment when title transfers to customers. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of
its customers’ financial condition. The Company requires irrevocable letters of credit on sales to certain foreign
customers. Receivables generally are due within 30 to 60 days.

Inventories

Inventories, conststing of material, labor and manufacturing overhead, are stated at the lower of cost or markel.
Cosi is determined using a standard cost method, which approximates average cost.
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ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Property and Equipment \

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Dt_apréciation is based on estimated
useful lives of 4-10 years for equipment and fixtures and 25-35 years for buildings computed using the straight-line
method.

Intangible Assets with Finite Lives :
" " +
Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives or contractual lives,
whichever are shorter {see Note 5). For a description of the intangible assets acquired in the Mentor/Coloplast
transactions, see Note 14.

Foreign Currency Translation
\

The financial statements of the Company’s non-U.Sl.. subsidiary are translated into U.S. dollars in accordance
with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation” The a'gssels and liabilities of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries whose
functional currencies are other than'the U.S. dollar are translated at current rates of exchange. Revenue and expense
itemsl‘)are translated at the average exchange rates. The relsulling translation adjustments are recorded directly into
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company records as goodwill the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable tangible or
intangible net assets acquired as prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under this standard, goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives
are not amortized. This standard also requires, at a minimum, an annual assessment of the carrying value of
goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives. If the carrying value of goedwill or an intangible asset
exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over
their estimated useful lives (see Note 5).

Long-Lived Assets

‘The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment as prescribed by SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its
carrying value of long-lived may not be recoverable. Long-lived assets are considered not recoverable when the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset {asset group) exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to
result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset (asset group). If it is determined that a long-lived asset (asset
group) is not recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded equal to the excess of the carrying amount of the long-
lived asset (asset group) over the long-lived asset’s (asset group’s) fair value. Fair value is the amount at which the
long-lived asset (asset group) could be bought or sold in a current transaction between a willing buyer and seller,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Patents

Capitalized costs include costs incurred in connection with making patent applications for the Company’s
products and are amortized on a straight-line basis over eight years. The Company periodically reviews its patents
for impairment of value. Any adjustment from the analysis is charged to operations.
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ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred. Research and development costs
include clinical testing costs, certain salary and related expenses, other tabor costs matenals and an. allocauon‘of
certain overhead expenses.

ek

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from product sales upon shipment when title transfers to customers.
Amounts received for upfront license fees under multiple-element supply and distribution arrangements are
deferred and recognized over the period of supply, if such arrangements require the Company’s on-going services or
performance. ' '

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the liability method. Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary
differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The Company records a valuation
allowance to reduce the carrying value of its net deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be
realized. The Company recorded an income tax liability on income generated in the United Kingdom.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has three stock option plans under which options have been granted to employees, officers and
directors_of the Company, at a price not less than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the date
the options were granted. Options under the 1991 Stock Option Plan are no longer granted because the 10-year term
of the plan has expired. The granting period for the 200! Stock Incentive Plan expires in 201 1. Under the 1995 Non-
Statutory Stock Option Plan, options also may be granted to certain non-employees at a price not less than the fair
market value of the Company’s common stock at the date the options are granied. Options generally expire ten years
from the date of grant or at an earlier date as determined by the committee of the Board of Directors of the Company
that administers the plans. Options granted under the 1991, 1995 and 2001 Plans generally vest over four years from
the date of grant.

Effective October 1, 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™)
No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)") which requires all share-based payments,
including grants of stock options, to be recognized in the statement of operations as an operating expense based on
their fair values over the requisite service period. SFAS 123(R) supersedes the Company’s previous accounting
under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” for periods
beginning in fiscal 2006. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulietin No. 107 relating to SFAS 123(R).
The Company has applied the provisions of SAB 107 in its adoption of SFAS 123(R). The Company elected to
utilize the modified-prospective transition method as permitted by SFAS 123(R). Under this transition method, the
Company’s financial statements for prior periods have not been restated to reflect,.and do not include, the impact of
SFAS 123(R). Stock-based compensation expense for the year cnded September 30, 2006 includes: (a) compen-
sation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, October 1, 2005,
based on grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the originat provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation;” and (b) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted
subsequent to October 1, 2005, based on grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 123(R). The Company recorded approximately $600,000 of related stock-based compensation expense for
the year ended September 30, 2006. This stock-based compensation expense reduced both basic and diluted
earnings per share by $0.05.

On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued FASB Staff Position
No. SFAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tux Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.”
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: ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION
. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

!

The alternative transition method includes 51mp11ﬁed methods to establish the beginning balance of the addmondl
paid-in capital pool (“APIC pool”) related to the tax effects of employee share-based compensation, and to
determine the subsequem impact on the APIC pool and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of the tax effects of
employee share-based compensation awards that are outstandmg upon adoption of SFAS 123(R). The Company has
adopted this method. . i

§
As of September 30, 2006, $422,173 of unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested awards is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average f)eriod of approximately fourteen months.

To determine the pro forma 1mpact under FAS No. 123, the fair value of stock options is estimated on the date
of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing mocliel and is then hypothetically amortized to compensation
expenses over the four-year vesting period. The pro forma 1mpact for the fiscal year ended September 30 follows:

!. . Year Ended September 30,

2005 2004
Net income, as reported ... ............... [ £ 934427 § 746,813
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensauol‘l expense under fair value :
method for all awards ... ...... > ......, ‘! e e (439,130) . (462,276)
Pro forma net income . .. . ............. ST AT $495297 284,537
‘Net Income per common sharé: ‘ s
" Basic—asreported ............. e e 3 09 % .07
- Diluted —as reported . .. ... $ 08 § 07
Basic —— Pro forMa . . ..ot ot e e e e 3 05 § 03
Diluted —proforma. .. ...... . 3 04 3 03

Stock Options

In fiscal 2006 and 2005, 210,000 shares were granted each year (adjusted for the 2:1 stock split on
November 17, 2006). The Black-Scholes option pricing model was used to estimate the fair value of stock-based
awards with the following weighted-average assumptions for the year ended September 30, 2006.

2006 2005
Dividend yield . . ... ... 0% 0%
Expected volatility . . . ... .. ... . e 54% 55%
Risk-free iNterest TAlE . . . . .ttt r e et et et e s 433% 3.68%
Expected holding period (in years) . ... ... it 6.69 6.44
Weighted-average grant-date fair value . .. .......... ... ... .. . $340 $2.67

The risk-free rate is based on a treasury instrument whose term is consistent with the expected life of our stock
options. The expected volatility, holding period, and forfeitures of options are based on historical experience.
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' ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table represents stock option activity for the year ended September 30, 2006:.

Weighted
Weighted Average .. .4
Average - Remalnmg T

Number of Exercise -~ Contract -~
Shares Price Life -

QOuistanding options at beginning of period . . .............. 2,046,600 $4.42
Granted .. ... e e e e 210,000 5.85
Exercised . ... oo e e (39,560) 3.07 .
Canceled. . . ... . .. e e (194,440) 6.64 X .
Qutstanding options atend of period . . .. ... ... .. o L. 2,022,000 %438 494 Yrs. -
Outstanding exercisable at end of period .. . . .............. 1,698,000 $424 428 Yrs.

Shares available for future stock option grants to employees and directors under existing plans were 871,000 at
September 30, 2006. At September 30, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding was $8,862,019,
and the aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable was $7,194,744. Total intrinsic vatue of options exerc:sed
was $95,641 for the year ended September 30, 2006.

The following table summarizes our nonvested stock option activity for the year ended September 30, 2006:

Weighted

Average
Number of - Grant Date -

Shares Fair Value
Nonvested stock options at beginning of period . . . . ....... ... ... ... 351,500 $2.37
Granted . . .. . e e e e e 210,000 3.40
Vested . ... [ (158,000) 2.68
Canceled .. ... i (79,500) 5.55
Nonvested stock options at end of period .......................... 324,000 $2.97

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requites
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include the valuation allowances for
inventories and deferred income tax assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company will record impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when indicators of
impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the
assets’ carrying amount.

Net Income Per Share

Net income per common share is calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” The Company’s basic net income per commeon share is computed by
dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net
income per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period, increased to include dilutive potential common shares issuable upon the exercise of
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ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

stock options that were outstanding during the period. For periods of net loss, diluted net loss per common share
equals basic net loss per common share because common stock equivalents are not included in periods where there

is a loss, as they are antidilutive. A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator in the basic and diluted net
income per share calculation is as follows:
Year Ended September 30,
2006 2005 2004
. Numerator: T .
~_ Netincome.......................... L .. $1958903 § 934427 § 746813
* Denominator: _ ~1
'. Denominator for basic net income per common _
share — weighted average shares outstanding. ... 11,068,102 10,932,246 10,868,676
Effect of dilutive stock options . ........... “‘. e 597,890 496,984 504,512
i Denominator for diluted net income per common
share — weighted average shares outstanding ! . .. 11,665,992 11,429,230 11,373,188
Net income per common share — basic. ... ... .. U 18 % 09 3 0.07
Net income per common share — diluted .. ... ... .. 3 A7 8 08 % 0.07

Employee stock options of 382,000, 648,000 and 702,000 for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively
have been excluded from the diluted net income per common share calculations because their exercise prices were
greater than the average market price of the Company’s common stock.

3. Advertising Costs

All advertising costs are charged to operations as incurred. The Company incurred advertising expenses of
$333,000, $142,000 and $165,000 for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
4. Inventories

Inventories are summarized as follows:
September 30,

2006 2008
Raw Materials . .. .ottt e et e e e $1,807,706 31,076,839
WOrK-in-process. . . .. ..ot e 1,603,912 1,637,694
Finished goods .. ... ... . . i e 1,312,978 1,321,710
Reserve for inventory obsolescence ................. . ... (82,018 (100,000)

|
$4.642,578  $3,936,243 |
|

43




ROCHESTER MEDICAL CORPORATION _
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

5. Intangible Assets with Finite Lives

Finite life intangible assets at September 30, 2006 were as follows:

September 30, 2006
Estimated Lives  Gross Carrying  Accumulated

+

K

(Years) Amount Amortization Net Value
Trade marks . ... ... ..o 810 15 $5.423,000  $135056  $5,287.944
Supply agreement . . ... ..., .. ... . 5 634,050 42,270 591,780
Customer relationships . ........... 20 2,431,000 40,517 2,390.483
Totals . .. ... ... ... $8.488,050 $217,843 $8,270,207

Amortization expense related to these assets was as follows:

Year ended September 30, 2006 . . . ... IR $217,843

Estimated annual amortization expense for these assets over the next five years is as fotlows:

L O $653.427
2008 . . e e $653.427
2009 .. (A $653.427
2010 ... e e e $653,427
2001 e . $611,257

6. Shareholders’ Equity
Stock Options

On November 17, 2006, the Company completed a 2 for [ stock split. All share and per share data presented in
these financial statements have been retroactively restated to reflect shares and prices post split.

Under the terms of the 1991 Stock Option Plan, the Board of Directors may grant employee incentive stock
options equal to fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock or employee non-qualified options at a price
which cannot be less than 85% of the fair market value. In August 1998, the 1991 Stock Option Plan was amended to
increase by 600,000 shares the number of shares authorized for issuance to 2,000,000 shares. Per the terms of the
1991 Stock Option Plan, as of April 20, 2001, no new stock options may be granted under the 1991 Stock Option
Plan.

The 1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan authorizes the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of Common Stock.
Pet the terms of the 1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan, no option may be granted with a term longer than ten
years. The vesting schedule for options granted under the 1995 Non-Statutory Stock Option Plan is determined by
the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. In September 1995, Medical Advisory Board
members were granted options to purchase 24,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exércise price of
$7.875 per share. These 24,000 shares have now expired. In April 1999, one member of the Medical Advisory Board
was granted options to purchase 12,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price:of $5.06 per
share. ‘

In February 2001, the Company’s shareholders approved the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, Under the terms of the
200! Stock Incentive Plan, 1,000,000 shares were authorized for issuance pursuant to grants of incentive stock
options and non-quatified options. Per the terms of the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan, options may be granted with a
term no longer than ten years. The vesting schedule and term for options granted under the 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan is determined by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. In January 2006, the
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| . 1
2001 Stock Option Plan was amended to increase by 1,000,000 shares the number of shares authorized for issuance
to 2,000,000 shares. ‘ '

Option activity is summarized as follows:
i

- Weighted
i Average i
L Shares Exercise \
| Reserved Options Price Per
For Grant Outstanding Share
Balance as of September 30,2003 . . ...... ... ... ... ..... 454,500 1,942,600 $4.24
Options granted. . ... ... ...t (132,000) 132,000 4.63
Options exercised ... ... ... ... .. .. . . . — (32,862) 2.55
OpthﬂSCdnceled.....................‘..." .......... 4,500 (4,500) 4.13
1991 Plan — options canceled and not reissuable .. .. ... .. .. : — — —
Balance as of September 30, 2004 . ... ... . ... i S 327,000 2,037,238 4.30
Options granted. . .. ............ooiiinn.. L. (210,000) 210,000 4.70
Options eXercised ... .......ooouveiin.n. e —  (164,738) 2.84
Options canceled . ... ...t iiiinnn.. Ll 36,500 (36,500) 6.26
1991 Plan — options canceled and not reissuable . . )'; ........ (3,000) — 2.35
Balance as of September 30, 2005......... o ........ 150,500 2,046,000 442
[ncrease in Authorized Shares .. ............... . 1,000,000
Options granted. . . ...... ... ... ..o, P (210,000) 210,000 5.85
Options exercised ... ..... ... ... ... i —  7(39,560) ©  3.07
Optionscanceled. . .. ....... .. ... .. ......... e 194,440 (194,440) 6.64
1991, 1995 Plan — options canceled and not reissuable . .. ... (175,940) — 6.85
Balance as of September 30, 2006. .. R PP, 959,000 2,022,000 $4.39

The number of stock options exercisable at September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was 1,698,000, 1,674,000 and
1,563,728 at a weighted average exercise price of $4.24, $4.49 and $4.65 per share, respectively.

Effective October 1, 2005, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™)
No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)) which requires all share-based payments,
including grants of stock options, to be recognized in the statement of operations as an operating expense based on
their fair values over the requisite service period. SFAS 123(R) supersedes the Company’s previous accounting
under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ for periods
beginning in fiscal 2006. In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 relating to SFAS 123(R).
The Company has applied the provisions of SAB 107 in its adoption of SFAS 123(R)}. The Company elected to
utilize the modified-prospective transition method as permitted by SFAS 123(R). Under this transition method, the
Company's financial statements for prior periods have not been restated to reflect, and do not include, the impact of
SEAS 123(R). Stock-based compensation expense for the year ended September 30, 2006 includes: (a) compen-
sation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted. prior to, but not yet vested as of, October 1, 2005,
based on grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123(R), “Accounting
Sfor Stock-Based Compensation;” and (b) compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted
subsequent to October 1,2 005, based on grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
SFAS 123(R). The Company recorded approximately $600,000 of related stock-based compensation expense for
the year ended September 30, 2006. This stock-based compensation expense reduced both basic and diluted
earnings per share by $0.05 for the year ended September 30, 2006.
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On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Staff Position
No. SFAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Baséd ‘Payment- Awards.

The alternative transition method inctudes simplified methods to establish the beginning balanice of the addlllonal*-m

paid-in capital pool (“APIC pool”) related to the tax effects of employee share-based compensation, and to
determine the subsequent impact on the APIC pool and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of the tax effects of
employee share-based compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption of SFAS-123(R). The Company has
adopted this method. ' '

Pro forma information regarding net income (loss) and income (loss) per share is required by Statement 123,
and has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value
method of Statement 123. The fair value of these options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 4.33%, 3.68% and
3.42% for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively; volatility factor of the expected market price of the Company’s
common stock of .5352, .5458 and .554 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively; a-weighted average expected
life of the option of 6.7 years, 6.4 years and 6.6 years for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectwely and an expected
dividend vield of 0%.

The weighted average fair value of optimis granted in 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $3.40, $2.67 and $2.67 per
share, respectively. The exercise price of options outstanding at September 30, 2006 ranged from $2.1710 510,00 per
share as summarized in the following table: ) o

_ Weighted Weighted

) . Average | - L Average

Weighted Exercise Price . Exercise Price

Number Average Per Share — Number * Per Share —
Range of . - Outstanding Remaining Total Options Exercisable Options

Exercise Prices at 9/30/06 Contractoal Life Qutstanding at 9/30/06 Exercisable

$0.00 — $2.50 ° 569,500 4.7 years - $2 28 569,500 $2.28
251—500 - 856,500 56years 404 662,500 " 387
5.01 —7.50 420,000 5.6 years 635 290,000 6.53
7.51 = 10,00 176,000 0.8 years .8.18 176,000 8.18
2,022,000 - 4.9 years $4.38 1,698.000 . $424

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options
which have no vesting restrictions and ‘are fully transferable. In addition, option valuallon models require the input
of highly subjective assumptions. .
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7. Income Taxes

1

Deferred income taxes are due to temporary differences between the carrying values of certain assets and

liabilities for financial reporting and income tax purposes. Significant components of deferred income taxes are as
follows:

\ N - September 30,

2006 2005
Deferred income tax assets: .
Net operating loss carryforwards ... .. .. ... SRR $ 7,840,000 § 8,661,000
Research and development credit carryforwards .. .............. 291,000 306,000
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ... ....................... 20,000 34,000
INVentOTY TESEIVES . . . ot ittt ittt e 30,000 36,000
Inventory capitalization . .......... .. ... . ... . ... i, 192,000 108,000
Accrued EXPENSES . .. ... e 66,000 54,000
Deferred revenue . ... ... ... 205,000 262,000
Valuation allowance. . ... ... . .. . . . . e (7,108,000) (8,593,000)
Total income tax deferred assetsS. . . ... .ottt 1,536,000 868,000
Deferred income tax liability:
Depreciation and amortization ... ..... ... ... ... ... . ... 305,000 414,000
Net deferred InCOME tX 85SELS . . . v v v vt it et e et e e e e $1,231,000 -3 454,000

The deferred tax amounts above have been classified in the accompanying balance sheets as follows:

September 30, |

2006 2005 i
CUITENE ASSEES .« o o v e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 53,000 $ 21,000
NONCUITENL E5SELS . . . . . . . ittt et et e ettt e e e 1,189,000 433,000

$1,231,000  $454,000

The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce the carrying value of its net deferred 1ax assets to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized. During 2004 all of the Company’s taxable income was offset by
available net operating loss {(NOL) carryforwards and management had recorded a $9.1 million valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of the realization and timing of the benefits from those deferred
tax assets as the Company had not achieved a sufficient level of sustained profitability. During 2005 management
concluded that the Company had attained a sufficient level of sustained profitability to allow the valuation
allowance to be reduced to reflect management’s estimate of the amount of deferred tax assets that will be realized
in the near term. Considering projected levels of future income as well as the nature of the net deferred tax assets,
management reduced the valuation allowance by $454,000 during 2005 resulting an a corresponding income tax
benefit in the statement of operations, and management further reduced the allowance by $777,000 in 2006 to
reflect management’s revised and increased estimates of future taxable income. On December 14, 2006, the
Company announced a settlement agreement with C.R. Bard, Inc. that management believes will significantly
reduce the valuation allowance in the first quarter of fiscal 2007 as a result of this subsequent event.

The Company’s net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $21,600,000 can be carried forward to
offset future taxable income, subject to the limitation of Internal Revenue Code Section 382. The net operating loss
carryforward will expire at different times beginning in 2009. The expiration by year for the upcoming five fiscal
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years and thereafter are as follows: 2007: $0 2008: $0; 2009 $589,000; 2010: $1,302,000; 2011: $1,147,000; and
thereafter: $18,562,000.
The income tax benefit reflected in operations for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 consist

of the following:
. September 30,

Deferred tax expense (beneﬁt) P (777.000)  (454,000)
' ' $(672,176)  $(454,000)

_ 2006 2005. 2004
Curre‘nttaxexpense._.' ......... e .. $104824 § 0 —. $—

The reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate of 34% and the effective income tax rate for
the years ended September 30 is as follows:
' 2006 2005 2004

Statutory federal income tax rate. . ... ... ... ..o i e 34%  34% 34%

Increase (decrease) in taxes resuiting from:

State taxes .............. e e e 3 3 3
FOFEIZN TAXES .+ . o - ot o oot e e e ettt e e S
Utilization of net operdting loss carryforward. ... .. ... ) e an (23) (36)
Change in valuation allowance. ... ........ ...t een... ©0)y 109 ()

Effective iNCOME 1aX FAIE .« v v v o e v e e e e e e e e e e e e e 52)%. (95)%. _ 0%

8. Related Party Transactions

The brother-in- law of the CEO and President, the Vice President of Production Technolog:es anda member of
the board of directors of the Company has performed legal services for the Company. During the years ended
September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company incurred legal fees and expenses of approximately $58,000,
$32,000. and $60,000, respectively, to such counsel for services. rendered in connection with lmgauon and for
general legal services. Management believes the fees paid for the services rendered to the Company were on terms
at ledst as favorable to the Company as could have been obtamﬂd from an unrelated party.

9. Significant Customers

Significant customers, measured as a percentage of sales, are, summarized as follows:

. . N .- _ «September 30, .
Significant customers: : S e A
Hollister . ....... e e e i it 169000 16%-2m1 6%
Mentor and subsidiaries:
Porges (busmess soldto Coloplast) . . ... . .. oo e, 5 6 -9
Mentor (busmess sold to Coloplast and Rochester Medlcal see Note 14).. . 4 11 13
Mentor Medical (busmess sold to Coloplast and Rochester Medical, see
Note ). ... e e 2 4 3
' 2% 3% 4%
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10. Ewmployee Benefit Plan

The Company has a 401{(k) plan covering employees meeling certain eligibility requ1remems The Company
currently dees not match employee contributions. :

L1 »
. '

- 11. Geographic Area Data' o j

" Sales related torcgslomers in the United States, Europe and the rest of the world are as follows:

. ) ‘September 30,
, : ‘ . { ) 2006 2005 - 2004
United States .......:.. R RN .. .k-l. ... 810,993,204 . $ 8,441,565 § 7,990,527
Europe . ... ... o b 8,383,854 5,164,633 4,769,601
“Restofworld ... ... ... o o L O 2,288,719 2,335,451 2,251,291
L L
Total ... .. TR e e - $21,665.837  $15941.649  $15.011419

Sales are attributed to countries based upon the address 1o which the Company ships products, as set forth on
the customer’s purchase order.

12. Line of Credit and Long-Term Debt

In June 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with the City of Stewartville to purchase additional land.
The purchase price of the property is $170,000 plus interest at 7%. The initial down payment was $34,000. The
balance outstanding at September 30, 2006 was $34,000. Annual principal payments of $34,000 will be made, plus
interest, through May 1, 2007. In June 2006, in conjunction with the asset purchase agreement with Coloplast, the
Company entered into an unsecured loan note deed with Coloplast with an outstanding principal amount of
$5.,340.000. The promissory note is non-interest bearing payable in five equal instailments of $1,068,000 payable
annually on June 2. The outstanding balance on the promissory note at September 30, 2006 was $5,340,000. The
Company has_discounted the $5,340,000 note at 6.90% and reflects a $4,409,000 liability on its balance sheet.

On June 2, 2006, in conjunction with the financing of the transactions between the Company, Mentor, and
Coloplast, the Company entered into a $7,000,000 credit facility with U.S. Bank Nationa! Association. The new
credit facility replaces the prior $1,000,000 revolving line of credit with U.S. Bank that expired on March 31, 2006.
The new credit facility consists of a $5,000,000 term loan payable in five years and accruing interest at a rate equal
to the quoted one-month LIBOR rate plus 1.60%, and a revolving tine of credit of up to $2,000,000, maturing
annually beginning March 31, 2007, with interest payable monthly at a floating rate based on the quoted one-month
LIBOR rate plus 1.60%. In November 2006, the interest rate on the term loan was fixed at 6.83%. As of
September 30, 2006, the Company had no borrowings under the revolving line of credit. The obligations of the
Company are secured by assets of the Company, including accounts, general intangibles, inventory, and equipment.
The term loan agreement and revolving credit agreement require the Company to comply with certain financial
covenants beginning the first quarter of fiscal 2007, including a fixed charge coverage ratio and minimum working
capital of $8 million, and restrict certain additional indebtedness and liens.

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows for the years ending September 30:

2007 . e $1,681,361

2008 .. e 1,764,402

20000, ... Lo e e e 1,888,013

2010 . e e e 2,025,537

200 e e 1,862,785

Thereafter . ... ... ... .. — ‘
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13. Capital Leases

_ During 2003, the Company entered into commitments under two capital leases for the lease of packaging
equipment and a trash compactor. These leases are payable in monthly installments through 2008. Future minimum
lease payments under non-cancelable capital leases as of September 30, 2006 are as follows:

Fiscal Year -

200 . o e e e e $ 44,615
2008, e e e e 22,985
Total future minimum lease PAYMENS . . . ..\ vttt e e 67,600
Less amount representing interest at 5.6% © .. ... i (3,.570)
Present value of net minimum lease payments ... ... .. ..o i i e 64,030
Less cutrent portion . . ... .t e e e e e e (42,084)
Long-term capital lease obligation. . ................. P $ 21,946

Assets under capital leases, as included in property, plant and equipment in the Company’s balance sheets, are
as follows:

September 30,
2006 2005
Packaging equipment. . . ... ... .. ... $194,024  $194,024
" Less accumulated amortization. . .. ... ... i T (81,999 {54,281)

$112,025  $139,743

Amortization of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation expense.

14, Acquisition of Assets from Mentor and Coloplast

On June 2, 2006, the Company, through its subsidiary Rochester Medical Limited, completed the acquisition
of certain assets of Coloplast A/S (“Coloplast”) and Mentor Medical Limited (“MML"), pursuant to an agreement
dated May 17, 2006. The Company paid a cash purchase price of $9.3 million at closing, and agreed to pay an
additional $5.3 million in equal instaliments over five years, plus or minus an amount based on units sold over the
five year period. Based on current sales volumes, the Company does not project a material change to the purchase
price based on this provision. Any adjustment to the purchase price would be realized in goodwill. As provided in
the Agreement, the Company acquired certain assets, including certain trademarks, related to sales of MECs in the
United Kingdom. The assets also include MML’s UK Dispensing Appliance Contractor License and its sales offices
and warehouse facility in Lancing, England. The Company also purchased approximately $160,000 of inventory to
be sold in the United Kingdom.

On June 2, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of certain assets owned and used by Mentor
Corporation {“Mentor’”) in its silicone MEC business. Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company paid
$750,000 for certain equipment and other tangible assets in Mentor’s facility in Anoka, Minnesota, and purchased
certain inventory, work-in-progress and raw materials for the production of silicone MECs for approximately
$879,000; the Company also leased the Anoka facility from Mentor for a minimum of six months following the
closing of the transactions. Upon the closing of the transactions, the existing Supply Agreement, Foley Catheter
Sales and Distribution Agreement and MEC License and Sales Distribution Agreement (including, but not limited
to the Patent License and Technology License thereunder) between the Company and Mentor were terminated.

Coloplast and the Company also entered into a separately negotiated Private Label Distribution Agreement
under which the Company will supply silicone MECs to Coloplast, which will be sold under Coloplast’s brands
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worldwide excepting the United Kingdom. The Private Label Distribution Agreement specifies annual minimum‘
purchases of silicone MECs by Coloplast. Coloplast will also supply the Company with its requirements of latex:
MECs which the Company will sell in the United Kingdom under its newly acqmrecl Freedom® and Freedom Plus®
brands.

The Company accounted for the acqmsntlon under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with
SFAS 141. Accordingly, the purchase pn'ce was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on the Company’s estimates of fair value at the acquisition date. The Company engaged an
independent valuation firm to assist in the détcn’nmanon of the fair values. The initial purchase price exceeded the
amounts allocated to the tangible and mtanglble assets by approximately $5.5 mllhon and this excess was classified
as goodwﬂ]

. The following tables provide further information on the acquisition and allocations:

1

Purchase Price Summary

"Cateéory - - Amouni

initial Cash Payment .. ............ L. .. ... . ... . . .. L $ 9,269.000
Cash payment for Inventories........ \ .................................. 936,000
birect acquisition costs . . ... ....... \ ......................... A 653,000
Total cash paid ................... b e 10,858,000
Seller financed debt. . .............. e e e e 3,340,000
Total Consideration . . . ........ ... ... .. .. . ... .. . ... ... $16,198,000

Value Assigned to Assets & Liabilities

Category Amount

CUITENTL @SSLS . . o . o o vttt e e e e e e e e et et e e e $ 936,000
Property & equipment . . . ... . 1,287,000
Identifiable Intangibles. . .. ... .. .. L 8,488,000
Goodwill . . e 5,487,000
Net assets acquired . ... ... ... . . . .. . e $16,198,000

The pro forma unaudited results of operations for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, assuming
consummation of the purchase of the assets from Coloplast and MML as of October 1, 2004, are as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended
September 30 (unaudited)
2006 2005

NetSales....... .. ... ... ........ e $26,634,721  $23,317.974
Net InCome . . ... e e e e 3,295,002 3,566,626
Per share data:

Basic SAMMINES . . ..ottt i e $ 030 % 033

Diluted amMIngS . . . .. oot h) 028 § 0.31

The pro forma unaudited results do not purport to be indicative of the results which would actually have been
obtained had the acquisition of assets been completed as of the beginning of the earliest period presented.
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15. Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

Sumfnafy data relating to the results of operations for each quarter of the years ended September 30, 2006 and

2005 follows (in thousands, except per share amounts): _ -
Three Months Ended
December 31 March 31 June 30 September 30

Fiscal year 2006:

Net sales . . $4,607 $4.874 $5,358 $6,826
Grossprofit. ... ... oo 1,602 1,559 1,996 3,452
Income (loss) from operations . .............. 257 (199) 212 1,125
Net income {loss) before taxes . . ............. 311 (244) 226 993
Net income (loss) per common share — basic . . $ .03 $ (0 §$ .02 $ .09
Net income (loss) per common share — ‘
diluted . ... $ .03 $ (02 $§ 02 $ .08
Fiscal year 2005:
Net Sales . v v e e s $3,665 $4,t47 83815 "$4,314
Gross Profit. . oo v oo "1,398. 1,514 1,303 1,396
Income from operations . .. ................. 94 113 31 118
Net income before taxes ................... 122 141 60 157
Net income per common share — basic ... ... 5§ . $§ .0l $ .01 $ .01
Net income per common share — diluted . . . . . - § .ol $ 01 3 .01 5 .01

16. Subsequent Events

On October 31, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a two-for-one stock split of the Company’s
common stock. As a result of the stock split, on November 17, 2006, shareholders received one addltlonal common
share for each common share held on the record date of November 14, 2006.

On November 20, 2006, the Company announced that it had reached a settlement with Premier, Inc. and
Premier Purchasing Partners, L.P. with respect to the lawsuit it initiated in February 2004 against certain GPOs and
individual defendants alleging anti-competitive conduct against the defendants in the markets for standard and anti-
infection Foley catheters as well as urethral catheters. Under the settlement agreement, Premier will pay the
Company $8,825,000 (net $5,155,000 after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses) and will be dismissed from the
lawsuit. On December 14, 2006, the Company announced it had reached a settlement with C.R. Bard, Inc., whereby
C.R. Bard, Inc. will pay the Company $49,000,000 (net $33,450,000 after payment of attorneys’ fees and expenses)
and will be dismissed from the lawsuit. The litigation continues against all other defendants in the case, which is
scheduled for trial in May 2007.

On December 11, 2006, the Company announced it had signed a new Private Label Agreement for supply of
MECs to Hollister Incorporated for sale under the Hollister brand worldwide, excluding the United Kingdom, and
also announced that the parties amended their 2003 OEM/Private Label Agreement. The two companies also agreed
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to terminate the Common Interest and Defense Agreement which the parties entered into in September, 2004 for the
defense of the Company’s Hydrophilic Intermittent catheter technology with respect to the patent infringement
action in the United Kingdom between Coloplast A/S and Hollister. The Company has agreed with Hollister to
release each other from any claims under the Common Interest and Defense Agreement. In particular, the Company
will not be required to pay any additional legal fees under the terminated agreement.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On June 21, 2005, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, after a review of proposals for audit services
from several public accountants, determined to engage McGladrey & Pullen LLP as our independent registered
public accounting firm for the fiscal year commencing October 1, 2004 and ending September 30, 2005. Ernst &
Young LLP (“Ernst & Young™), our prior independent registered public accounting firm, was dismissed by our
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors as of June 21, 2005.

In connection with the audits of the two fiscal years ended September 30, 2004, and the subsequent interim
period through June 21, 2005, there were no disagreements between us and Ernst & Young on any matter of
accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagree-
ments, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Ernst & Young, would have caused Ernst & Young to make reference in
connection with their opinion to the subject matter of the disagreement.

There were no reportable events (as defined in Regulation S-K Item 304{a)(1)(v)} during our two most recent
fiscal years ended September 30, 2004, or the subsequent interim period through June 21, 2005.

The audit reports of Emst & Young on our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended
September 30, 2004 and September 30, 2003 did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion and were
not gualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principles.

We provided Ernst & Young LLP with a copy of the foregoing disclosures. A letter from Ernst & Young LLP
dated June 23, 2005 is attached as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, stating its agreement with such
statements.

During our two most recent fiscal years and the subsequent interim period through June 21, 2003, we did not
consult with McGladrey & Pullen LLP regarding any of the matters set forth in Item 304{a){2)(i) and (ii) of
Regulation S-K.
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